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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Defendants-Appellants’ Jurisdictional Statements are not complete and correct.

Defendants were charged by Superseding Indictment in the Southern District of Illinois with

violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 922(g)(1) and 1512(c)(1), and with violations

of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1), 841(b)(1)(A), and 846.  

Following a jury trial, Defendant Scott Johnson was sentenced on March 30, 2010.  The

district court entered its Judgment and Commitment Order on March 30, 2010.  R 167.   It is from1

this final order of the district court that Defendant Johnson appeals.

Defendant Johnson filed a timely Notice of Appeal on March 30, 2010.  R. 170.

Following a jury trial, Defendant Lisa Lamb was sentenced on May 18, 2010.  The district

court entered its Judgment and Commitment Order on May 18, 2010.  R. 186.  It is from this final

order of the district court that Defendant Lamb appeals.

Defendant Lamb filed a timely Notice of Appeal on May 18, 2010.  R. 188.

The district court had jurisdiction over these offenses against the laws of the United States

pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 3231.

This Court has appellate jurisdiction pursuant to Title 28, United States Code, Section 1291. 

Because Defendant Lamb seeks review of her sentence, this Court also has appellate jurisdiction

pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742.

Citation abbreviations contained herein include the following:  “R.” refers to the district1

court’s Record Document Number; “Tr. II,” “Tr. III,” and “Tr. IV” refer to the Trial Transcript,
volumes II, III, and IV; “S.Tr.” refers to the Sentencing Transcript for Defendant-Appellant Lamb;
“G.App.” refers to the Appendix attached hereto; “L. Br.” refers to Defendat-Appellant Lamb’s
Brief; “J. App.” refers to Defendant-Appellant Jonshon’s Appendix; “L. App.” refers to Defendant-
Appellant Lamb’s Appendix .
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Whether there was probable cause to search the residence at 5706 Westmoreland in 

Washington Park, Illinois.

II. Whether the district court properly instructed the jury on witness credibility.

III. Whether the district court properly denied Johnson’s request for a mistrial.

IV. Whether Lamb’s conduct violated 18 U.S.C. §1512(c)(1).

V. Whether the evidence at trial constructively amended or fatally varied from the charge 

against Lamb.

VI. Whether there was sufficient evidence to convict Lamb of obstruction of justice.

VII. Whether the district court properly applied the cross-reference in Section 3X3.1 of the 

Guidelines in sentencing Lamb.  
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 19, 2009, Defendants-Appellants were charged by Superseding Indictment in the

Southern District of Illinois.  R. 79.  Count 1 charged Defendants-Appellants with Conspiracy to

Distribute Cocaine, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1), 841(b)(1)(A),

and 846; Count 2 charged Defendant-Appellant Johnson with Distribution of Cocaine, in violation

of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(A); Count 3 charged Defendant-

Appellant Johnson with being a Felon in Possession of a Firearm, in violation of Title 18, United

States Code, Section 922(g)(1); Count 4 charged Defendant-Appellant Lamb with Obstruction of

Justice, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1512(c)(1). R. 79.  On October 5, 2009,

Count 1 was dismissed as to Defendant-Appellant Lamb.  R. 118.  

On October 8, 2009, Defendants-Appellants were convicted of the charges following a jury

trial.  R. 127.  

On March 30, 2010, Defendant-Appellant Johnson was sentenced to concurrent sentences

of Life in prison on Count 1, 360 months’ imprisonment on Count 2, and 120 months’ imprisonment

on Count 3, and was ordered to pay a fine of $2,250,000 and a special assessment of $ 300.  R. 164. 

The Judgment and Commitment Order was entered on March 30, 2010.  R. 167.

Defendant-Appellant Johnson filed a timely Notice of Appeal on March 30, 2010.  R. 170.

On May 18, 2010, Defendant-Appellant Lamb was sentenced to 78 months’ imprisonment,

3 years’ supervised release, and ordered to pay of fine of $625 and a special assessment of $100.  R.

183.  The Judgment and Commitment Order was entered on May 18, 2010.  R. 186.  

Defendant-Appellant Lamb filed a timely Notice of Appeal on May 18, 2010.  R. 188.   
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STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2006, the Drug Enforcement Administration began an investigation into the cocaine

trafficking activities of Scott Johnson in the area of East St. Louis, Illinois.    R. 41, Ex. 1, G. App.

1.  The investigation lead to the application on April 4, 2008 for a search warrant for the premises

at 5706 Westmoreland in Washington Park, Illinois.    R. 41, Ex. 1, G. App. 1.  The affidavit in

support of the search warrant contained a summary of the investigation and information from four

confidential sources.    R. 41, Ex. 1, G. App. 1.  The affidavit stated that the fourth confidential

source had provided corroborated information to law enforcement in the past that had lead to arrests. 

  R. 41, Ex. 1, G. App. 1.  The affidavit stated that the confidential source had bought cocaine from

Johnson at 5706 Westmoreland four times in the week prior.    R. 41, Ex. 1, G. App. 1.  The affidavit

stated that earlier on April 4, 2008, the informant had bought cocaine from Johnson at 5706

Westmoreland in a controlled purchase.    R. 41, Ex. 1, G. App. 1.  The affidavit stated that after the

controlled purchase, police stopped a car after it left 5706 Westmoreland, and additional cocaine was

recovered.    R. 41, Ex. 1, G. App. 1.  

Later, on April 4, 2008, DEA Agent Michel Rehg went to the door of 5706 Westmoreland

to execute the search warrant.  Tr. III, 32:15-19.  Outside of the door were iron bars that Rehg could

not open.  Tr. III, 28:24 - 29:2.  After Agent Rehg knocked, Lisa Lamb opened the inner door but

not the iron bars that covered the door.  Tr. III, 32:18-22.  Agent Rehg showed Lamb his

identification, introduced himself, and told Lamb that he had a search warrant for the residence and

that she would have to open the door to let him in.  Tr. III, 33:6-10.  Lamb asked to see a copy of the

warrant, and Rehg explained that he would get one.  Tr. III 33:13-17.  Rehg told Lamb that she

would have to stay in front of the open door where he could see her, both for his safety and so that

evidence would not be destroyed.  Tr. III, 33:17-24.  Rehg asked Lamb to keep the inner door open,

4



but Lamb slammed the door on him, kicked it, and tried to push it shut.  Tr. III, 33:25 - 34:9. 

Eventually, Lamb shut the door, and agents tried to make entry into the house by breaking the

windows.  Tr. III, 35:4-15.  Agents, uniformed police officers, and firemen attempted to get into the

residence for approximately 20 to 30 minutes.  Tr. III, 35:21 - 36:10.  Firemen cut the frame off the

barred door with a gas saw, and agents were able to get inside.  Tr. III, 36:11-18.  

While they were trying to get inside of the residence, Agent Rehg and Washington Park

police officers were yelling to Lamb that they were the police and for her to open the door.  Tr. III,

36:19-25.  During that time, Agent Rehg heard the toilet flushing and the faucet on the sink running. 

Tr. III 37:7-9.  Agent Rehg saw Lamb standing in front of the sink, and she appeared to be washing

dishes.  Tr. III, 37:12-14.  When Rehg entered the house, Lamb was backing away from the sink, the

faucet was running, and the sink was still wet.  Tr. III, 38:7-12.  Lamb told Rehg that she had been

washing dishes.  Tr. III, 39:21.  On the sink, Agent Rehg found a pyrex measuring cup with crack

cocaine residue inside.  Tr. III, 42:12-19, 43:4-20.

Johnson filed a motion to suppress evidence seized from 5706 Westmoreland during the

execution of the search warrant.  R. 38, 39.  The district denied Johnson’s motion, finding that,

“Johnson’s contention that the affidavit lacks particularized facts supporting a determination of

probable cause to search 5706 Westmoreland simply ignores the actual statements therein.”  R. 55;

J. App. A13. 

Lamb filed a motion to sever her case from Johnson’s for trial.  R. 99.  At the time of the

motion, Lamb was charged in the conspiracy count of the Superseding Indictment.  R. 79.  The

district court denied Lamb’s motion.  R. 101; L. App. A11.  The district court addressed Lamb’s

concern about a “spill-over” effect of the evidence against Johnson and cited this Court’s precedent

holding that a simple disparity of evidence does not independently establish actual prejudice.  R.
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101; L. App. A11.   The district court invited counsel to request that the jury instruction on separate

consideration of each defendant and each charge, or another appropriate instruction, be given

contemporaneously with any evidence that applied solely to Johnson.  R. 101; L. App. A11.  After

the conspiracy count was dropped against Lamb, she did not renew her motion to sever, and she did

not request the separate consideration instruction during the trial testimony.  The district court gave

the jury the separate consideration instruction after the close of the evidence.  R. 126, p. 20; G. App.

7. 

At trial, prior to the government’s opening statement, the district court instructed the jury on

what is and is not evidence.  Tr. II, 7:10-16.  During her opening statement, the prosecutor stated

that, “after a search warrant was served, the Defendant Scott Johnson was arrested and over five

kilos of cocaine, total, were recovered.  In fact, over 300 grams of cocaine were recovered.”  Tr. II,

9:22-25.  After the opening statement, Johnson’s counsel requested a mistrial.  Tr. II, 12:8-23.  The

district court denied Johnson’s request, finding that the misstatement was a mistake that would be

cleared up by the evidence and that the jury had been properly instructed.  Tr. II., 13:25 - 14:11. 

After the close of evidence the jury was again instructed on what is and is not evidence.  R. 126, p.

2, 26; G. App. 5, 6.  

When the evidence began, Johnson’s co-conspirator testified against him in great detail.  Tr

II, 14:23 - 98:8.  Evidence was also presented that Johnson had confessed to the investigating agents

that he had received and sold seven kilos of cocaine the night before he was arrested and had sold

a total of about seventeen kilos of cocaine in the month prior. Tr. III, 53:7-19.

The evidence against Lamb included Agent Rehg’s testimony about his attempt to execute

the search warrant at 5706 Westmoreland.  Tr. III, 32:15 - 43:4-20.  Evidence was also presented that

Lamb had accompanied Johnson to pick up cocaine, that she had been present when cocaine was
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delivered, and that she had been present when Johnson sold cocaine.  L. Br.36; L. App. A78-9; A96;

A90-91; A96-97.        

During the jury instruction conference, Johnson requested that the special caution instruction

be given as to two of the government’s witnesses, Keith Blake and Forest Flowers, on the theory that

they had received a benefit from the government.  Tr. IV, 77:10-16.  The district court ruled that

Blake and Flowers had not received a benefit, however, the district court gave the general credibility

instruction and the special caution instruction as to Blake and Flowers on other grounds.  Tr. IV,

79:3-19; Tr. IV 81:17 - 82:7; R. 126, p.17-18; G. App. 2, 3, 4.  Also at the jury instruction

conference, Lamb made a general objection as to the sufficiency of the evidence to convict her of

the charged offense.  Tr. IV, 85:10 - 89:10; L. App. A22 - A26.  

At Lamb’s sentencing, the district court applied the cross-reference in Section 3X3.1 of the

Guidelines and made a factual finding that “several drug trafficking acts committed by Scott Johnson

between 2006 and April 4, 2008 were foreseeable to Miss Lamb and she was either a conduit for the

transactions, present during them, or involved in destroying evidence in the instant investigation.” 

S. Tr. 6:2-6.  The district court found Lamb’s relevant conduct to include 11 kilograms of cocaine

and 122 milligrams of cocaine base.  S. Tr. 5:23-24.  The district court characterized these

calculations as “extremely conservative” and noted that a “credible argument could be made that she

was responsible for all of the cocaine trafficking of Mr. Johnson, in which case she would likely be

looking at a life sentence.”  S. Tr. 5:24; 6:9-11.

Johnson and Lamb appeal their convictions, and Lamb appeals her sentence.          
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

I. The facts contained in the affidavit in support of the search warrant for 5706 Westmoreland

in Washington Park, Illinois, showed that there was probable cause to search the premises.  Reliable

confidential sources provided information that was corroborated, and the facts of the investigation,

including a controlled purchase of cocaine from Johnson at the residence shortly before the search

warrant, led to a reasonable inference that evidence of a crime would be found there. 

II. The district court properly instructed the jury on witness credibility.  Johnson asked that the

special caution instruction be given as to two of the government’s witnesses on the theory that the

witnesses had received a benefit from the government because they were not charged with buying

cocaine from Johnson.  The district court correctly ruled that the witnesses had not received a

benefit.  The district court gave the general credibility instruction, which addresses bias, and it also

gave the special caution instruction on other grounds.

III. The district court properly denied Johnson’s request for a mistrial based on a mistake in the

prosecutor’s opening statement.  The mistake was minor, it was corrected in the very next phrase of

the opening statement, and the jury was properly instructed on what is and is not evidence.  The

mistake did not prejudice Johnson.

IV. Lamb’s conduct violated 18 U.S.C. §1512(c)(1).  The plain language of the statute applies

to an attempt to conceal or destroy an “object” and crack cocaine is an “object” under the common

understanding of that term.  Because the statute is unambiguous, there is no need to consult

legislative history in applying it, and the doctrine of void for vagueness and the Rule of Lenity do

not apply.  Numerous courts have found that the statute applies outside of the context of corporate

fraud.  An official proceeding was foreseeable to Lamb at the time that she attempted to destroy

evidence because she was aware of Johnson’s cocaine dealings and law enforcement officers were
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at the door attempting to execute a search warrant at the time of the commission of the offense.

V. The trial evidence did not constructively amend or fatally vary from the charge of obstruction

of justice against Lamb.  In order to prove the elements of the charged offense, the government had

to show that Lamb acted “corruptly” and that an official proceeding was foreseeable.  The evidence

of Lamb’s knowledge of Johnson’s cocaine dealing was offered to prove those aspects of the offense

charged against Lamb.

VI. There was sufficient evidence to convict Lamb of obstruction of justice.  The evidence

showed that Lamb was aware of Johnson’s cocaine dealing, and at the time that Lamb attempted to

destroy evidence, law enforcement officers were at the door attempting to execute a search warrant. 

VII. The district court properly applied the cross-reference in Section 3X3.1 of the Guidelines in

sentencing Lamb.  There was sufficient evidence in the record to support the district court’s factual

findings that Johnson’s cocaine dealing was foreseeable to Lamb.                                    
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ARGUMENTS

I. Probable Cause Existed To Search The Property At 5706 Westmoreland In 
Washington Park, Illinois.  

INTRODUCTION

In Case No. 10-1762, Scott Johnson appeals his conviction.  Johnson argues that the affidavit

in support of the search warrant for the residence at 5706 Westmoreland in Washington Park,

Illinois , which resulted in the seizure of evidence on April 4, 2008, lacked probable cause and that2

the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule should not apply.  Johnson appeals the district

court’s order denying his motion to suppress evidence based on the same argument.  R. 38; R. 39;

R. 55, D. App. A8-A13.  Johnson’s argument fails because the affidavit in support of the search

warrant contained information from a reliable informant that was corroborated through a controlled

purchase of cocaine from Johnson at the residence shortly before the search warrant.  R. 41, Ex. 1,

G. App. 1.  The magistrate properly found probable cause to issue the search warrant, and the district

court properly denied Johnson’s motion to suppress.     

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the affidavit in support of a search warrant and a judge’s issuance of the

warrant, “the task of a reviewing court is not to conduct a de novo determination of probable cause,

but only to determine whether there is substantial evidence in the record to support the magistrate’s

decision to issue the warrant.”  Massachusetts v. Upton, 466 U.S. 727, 728 (1984).  This Court

affords great deference to the issuing judge’s determination of probable cause and reviews de novo

 In addition to the residence at 5706 Westmoreland, search warrants were also executed in2

this case at 8201 State Street and at 517 Martin Luther King Drive in East St. Louis, Illinois, but
Johnson only challenged the Westmoreland search warrant before the district court.  R. 38, 39.  To
the extent that Johnson’s brief may attempt to challenge the State Street or Martin Luther King Drive
search warrants, those arguments have been waived.  See United States v. Jaimes-Jaimes, 406 F.3d
845, 848 (7th Cir. 2005); United States v. Rezin, 322 F.3d 443, 446 (7th Cir. 2003).      
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the district court’s legal conclusion that the warrant was supported by probable cause.  United States

v. Bell, 585 F.3d 1045, 1049 (7  Cir. 2009).  th

ANALYSIS

“No warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause.”  U.S. Const. amend IV.  A search

pursuant to a warrant issued upon probable cause is proper.  “The task of the issuing magistrate is

simply to make a practical, common-sense decision whether, given all of the circumstances set forth

in the affidavit before him, including the ‘veracity’ and ‘basis of knowledge’ of persons supplying

hearsay information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found

in a particular place.”  Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983).  “The magistrate to whom the

warrant application is directed is entitled to draw reasonable inferences about where evidence is

likely to be kept, based on the nature of the evidence and the type of offense, and the magistrate need

only conclude that it would be reasonable to seek the evidence in the place indicated in the affidavit.” 

United States v. Sleet, 54 F.3d 303, 306 (7th Cir. 1995) (internal quotations omitted).  Doubtful cases

are to be resolved in favor of upholding the warrant.  United States v. Pless, 982 F.2d 1118, 1124

(7  Cir. 1992).  Probable cause is supported when an affidavit sets forth sufficient evidence for ath

reasonably prudent person to believe that a search warrant will uncover evidence of a crime.  Russell

v. Harms, 397 F.3d 458, 463 (7th Cir. 2005).  

Where a judge only considered only the supporting affidavit in issuing a search warrant, “the

warrant must  stand or fall solely on the contents of the affidavit.”  United States v. Koerth, 312 F.3d

862, 866 (7  Cir. 2002).  When an affidavit uses information supplied by an informant, “[s]everalth

factors inform the analysis, including: (1) the degree of police corroboration of the informant's

information; (2) the extent to which the information is based on the informant's personal

observations; (3) the amount of detail provided by the informant; (4) the interval of time between
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the events reported by the informant and the warrant application; and (5) whether the informant

personally appeared before the warrant-issuing judge to present the affidavit or testimony.”  United

States v. Dismuke, 593 F.3d 582, 586-587 (7th Cir. 2010).  These factors should be assessed as a

whole, and a weakness in one factor does not end the inquiry.  See United States v. Bell, 585 F.3d

1045, 1049 (7th Cir. 2009).   

In this case, the affidavit in support of the search warrant for 5706 Westmoreland stated that

authorities had been investigating the drug trafficking activities of Johnson since 2006.  R. 41, Ex.

1; G. App. 1, ¶5.  The affidavit stated that four different confidential informants had cooperated with

investigators and described their knowledge of  Johnson’s drug trafficking activities.  R. 41, Ex. 1;

G. App. 1, ¶¶ 6-23.  The affidavit included evidence that Johnson owned the property at 5706

Westmoreland and that he used it as a “stash” house for cocaine.  R. 41, Ex. 1; G. App. 1, ¶¶ 8, 11. 

The affidavit contained information that Confidential Source #4 had purchased cocaine directly from

Johnson on four different occasions in the week prior to April 4, 2008.  R. 41, Ex. 1; G. App. 1, ¶

21.  The affidavit stated that all four cocaine purchases took place at 5706 Westmoreland.  R. 41, Ex.

1; G. App. 1, ¶ 21.  The affidavit stated that Confidential Source #4 had provided reliable and

corroborated information to law enforcement on numerous prior occasions and that the information

had led to numerous prior arrests.  R. 41, Ex. 1; G. App. 1, ¶ 20.      

The affidavit stated that on April 4, 2008, prior to the application for the search warrant,

agents conducted a controlled purchase of cocaine from Johnson at 5706 Westmoreland.  R. 41, Ex.

1; G. App. 1, ¶ 23.  In the controlled purchase, the agents provided Confidential Source #4 with buy

money, watched him go into 5706 Westmoreland, and then watched him return from 5706

Westmoreland with several ounces of a white powder that tested positive for cocaine.  R. 41, Ex. 1;

G. App. 1, ¶ 23.  The affidavit further stated that later on April 4, 2008, members of the surveillance
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team observed a car arrive at 5706 Westmoreland.  R. 41, Ex. 1; G. App. 1, ¶ 24.  The car stayed for

a short time, and after it left 5706 Westmoreland, agents stopped the car and recovered four and a

half ounces of cocaine from one of the occupants.  R. 41, Ex. 1; G. App. 1, ¶ 24.

On December 17, 2008, Johnson filed his motion to suppress evidence and supporting

memorandum of law challenging the search of 5706 Westmoreland.  R. 38; R. 39.  After a hearing,

the district court entered its order denying Johnson’s motion to suppress.  R. 55; D. App. A8-A13. 

The order noted that, “Johnson’s motion does not challenge any of the facts or allegations set forth

in the affidavit; he simply argues that the statements therein are insufficient to support a finding of

probable cause.”  R. 55; D. App. A11.  The order went on to conclude that, “Johnson’s contention

that the affidavit lacks particularized facts supporting a determination of probable cause to search

5706 Westmoreland simply ignores the actual statements therein.”  R. 55; J. App. A13.  

Based on the facts described in affidavit in support of the search warrant for 5706

Westmoreland, the magistrate had, “sufficient evidence to induce a reasonably prudent person to

believe that a search [would] uncover evidence of a crime.”  United States v. Lowe, 516 F.3d 580,

585 (7  Cir. 2008), quoting United States v. Peck, 317 F.3d 754, 756 (7  Cir. 2003).  The record inth th

this case contains, “substantial evidence . . . to support the magistrate’s decision to issue the

warrant.”  Upton, 466 U.S. at 728.  Because there was probable cause to support the warrant to

search 5706 Westmoreland, district court’s denial of Johnson’s motion to suppress should be

affirmed.  In the alternative, the facts of the investigation support a finding that the agents relied in

good faith on a facially valid warrant, pursuant to United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897 (1984). 
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II. The District Court Properly Instructed The Jury Regarding Witness Credibility.

INTRODUCTION

Johnson argues that the district court should have given Seventh Circuit Pattern Jury

Instruction No. 3.13 regarding witnesses requiring special caution as to two of the government’s

witnesses, Keith Blake and Forest Flowers.  Blake and Flowers testified at trial that they had bought

cocaine from Johnson during the time of the charged conspiracy.  Tr. II, 193:8 - 201:43; Tr. II,

103:11 - 112:12.  Blake and Flowers testified that they had not been charged with a crime based on

buying cocaine from Johnson, but they had not received any promises in exchange for their

testimony.  Tr. II, 206:11-25; Tr. II, 115:23 - 116:19.  Johnson requested that Pattern Instruction No.

3.13 be given as to Blake and Flowers on the theory that they had received benefits by not having

been charged.  Tr. IV, 77:10-16.  The district court ruled that Blake and Flowers had not received

a benefit because they could be charged with a crime in the future.  Tr. IV, 79:3-19; Tr. IV 81:17 -

82:7.  Nevertheless, the district court gave the general credibility instruction and the special caution

instruction as to Blake and Flowers because they had participated in the offense charged against

Johnson.  R. 126, p.17-18; G. App. 2, 3, 4.  Johnson’s argument fails because this Court’s precedent

shows that the special caution instruction was given on the proper grounds, and because Johnson has

not demonstrated any prejudice resulting from the district court’s decision.                 

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for a district court’s decision to decline to give a requested jury

instruction is for an abuse of discretion.  United States v. Tavarez, 626 F.3d 902, 904 (7th Cir. 2010). 

This review is deferential to the district court, because it “is best situated to detect and deal with

threats of unreliable testimony.”  United States v. Cook, 102 F.3d 249, 252 (7th Cir. 1996).  Only
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upon finding that the defendant has showed prejudice will the Court of Appeals reverse the decision. 

United States v. Heath, 447 F.3d 535, 540 (7th Cir. 2006).  

ANALYSIS

This Court’s precedent in United States v. Jordan, 223 F.3d 676 (7th Cir. 2000) is controlling

on this issue.  In  Jordan, this Court examined a district court’s refusal to give the special caution

instruction requested here, Pattern Instruction 3.13.  The witness in  Jordan had not negotiated with

the government to avoid prosecution, was not given any money or other benefit for testifying,

appeared in court pursuant to a subpoena, and was cross-examined by the defense regarding his

reasons for testifying.  At the conclusion of the trial the district court instructed the jury using the

standard witness credibility instruction referring to the possibility of bias.   Jordan, 223 F.3d at 692. 

This Court found that the district court properly exercised its discretion in which instructions to give,

and the Court affirmed the defendant’s conviction.  Id. at 692, 694.  

In this case, Blake and Flowers both testified that in exchange for their testimony they had

not received any promises from the government that they would not be prosecuted for buying cocaine

from Johnson.  Tr. II, 206:11-25; Tr. II, 115:23 - 116:19.  Both Blake and Flowers were extensively

cross-examined by defense counsel.  Tr. II, 202:1 - 207:6; Tr. II, 112:17 - 122:20.  At the conclusion

of the trial in this case, the district court gave the standard witness credibility instruction referring

to the possibility of bias.  R. 126, p. 3; G. App. 4.  The district court also gave the special caution

instruction as to Blake and Flowers because they had participated in the offense charged against

Johnson.  R. 126, p.17-18; G. App. 2, 3.  

Based on  Jordan, the district court in this case did not abuse its discretion when it ruled that

Blake and Flowers had not received a benefit from the government.  Further, the district court did

give the special caution instruction as to Blake and Flowers because they had participated in the
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offense.  R. 126, p.17-18; G. App. 2, 3.  Johnson has not even attempted to show that the district

court’s ruling prejudiced him in any way.  Any such attempt would be futile because the jury was

instructed to consider the testimony of Blake and Flowers with caution and great care.  Therefore,

the district court’s ruling should be affirmed on this ground.

III. The District Court Properly Refused To Grant A Mistrial Based On An 
Inaccuracy In The Prosecutor’s Opening Statement.  

INTRODUCTION

Johnson argues that the district court erred by not granting him a mistrial based on a

misstatement in the prosecutor’s opening statement.  Prior to the opening statement, the district court

instructed the jury that, “[o]pening statements are statements by the lawyers to tell you what their

case is about.  Their statements, their questions, and their argument at the end of the case is not

evidence.”  Tr. II, 7:10-13.  The district court then instructed the jury that the evidence consists of

testimony, exhibits, and stipulations.  Tr. II, 7:13-16.  In her summary of the anticipated evidence,

the prosecutor told the jury that, “after a search warrant was served, the Defendant Scott Johnson was

arrested and over five kilos of cocaine, total, were recovered.  In fact, over 300 grams of cocaine

were recovered.”  Tr. II, 9:22-25.  After the opening statement, Johnson’s counsel requested a

mistrial.  Tr. II, 12:8-23.  The district court denied Johnson’s request, finding that the misstatement

was a mistake that would be cleared up by the evidence and that the jury had been properly

instructed.  Tr. II., 13:25 - 14:11.  After the close of evidence the jury was again instructed on what

is and is not evidence.  R. 126, p. 2, 26; G. App. 5, 6.  Johnson’s argument fails because the

misstatement was minor, it was immediately corrected, the jury was properly instructed, and Johnson

was not prejudiced.           
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STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews the denial of a motion for mistrial based on a claim of prosecutorial

misconduct for an abuse of discretion.  United States v. Lauderdale, 571 F.3d 657, 660 (7th Cir.

2009).  The Court gives the trial judge great deference due to the judge’s prime position for

“determin[ing] the seriousness of the incident in question, particularly as it relates to what has

transpired in the course of the trial.”  Id.  

ANALYSIS

When a defendant asserts a claim of prosecutorial misconduct based on improper comments

at trial, the reviewing court must make two findings before upholding the claim.  First, the comments

must be improper.  United States v. Myers, 569 F.3d 794, 798 (7th Cir. 2009).  Second, the

comments must have prejudiced the defendant such that he failed to receive a fair trial.  Darden v.

Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168 (1986).  In determining prejudice, the court must determine “whether the

prosecutors’ comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a

denial of due process.”  Id. (internal quotation marks omitted).  

Johnson argues that the prosecutor’s mention of five kilograms of cocaine  was prosecutorial

misconduct.  This unintentional error, which was immediately corrected, does not meet the standard

for misconduct, and therefore the district court properly refused to grant a mistrial.  Other courts

have determined that misstatements by the government are not improper when the comments were

“isolated, accidental and overall insignificant.”  United States v. Gardiner, 463 F.3d 445, 459 (6th

Cir. 2006); see also Gladden v. Frazier, 388 F.2d 777, 779-80 (9th Cir. 1968) (separating good faith

and prejudice in the analysis of misconduct, and finding mention of testimony in opening statement

that never materializes at trial good faith).  In this case, the misstatement was only mentioned once,

and it was corrected in the very next phrase.  Therefore, the government’s reference to five kilograms
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of cocaine in its opening statement was not improper under the test for prosecutorial misconduct.

The effect of the misstatement did not deny Johnson a fair trial.  Five factors inform whether

a prosecutor’s comments have prejudiced a trial:  “1) the nature and seriousness of the prosecutorial

misconduct, 2) whether the prosecutor's statements were invited by impermissible conduct by

defense counsel, 3) whether the trial court instructed the jury to disregard the statements, 4) whether

the defense was able to counter the improper statements through rebuttal, and 5) the weight of the

evidence against the defendant.”  United States v. Willis, 523 F.3d 762, 771 (7th Cir. 2008).  

In this case, the comment was isolated, extremely minor, and was immediately corrected. 

The comment was not invited by defense counsel, and the district court did not specifically instruct

the jury to disregard the statement, but the district court did properly instruct the jury both before and

after the statement as to what is and is not evidence.  Tr. II, 7:10-16; R. 126, p. 2, 26; G. App. 5, 6.

The assumption “that the jury follow[s] the court's cautionary instructions,” United States v. Hall,

165 F.3d 1095, 1116 (7th Cir. 1999) (quoting United States v. Mealy, 851 F.2d 890, 902 (7th Cir.

1988)), strongly weighs in favor of a finding that the prosecutor’s statements did not prejudice the

jury.  The comment was made in the government’s opening statement, so Johnson’s attorney had the

opportunity to address it in his own opening statement, however counsel chose not to make one.  Tr.

IV, 59:4-6.  

Finally, the weight of the evidence against Johnson was strong.  Johnson’s co-conspirator

testified against him in great detail.  Tr II, 14:23 - 98:8.  Johnson also had confessed to the

investigating agents that he had received and sold seven kilos of cocaine the night before he was

arrested and had sold a total of about seventeen kilos of cocaine in the month prior. Tr. III, 53:7-19. 

As the most important factor in the determination of prejudice, see United States v. Serfling, 504

F.3d 672, 677 (7th Cir. 2007); Rodriguez v. Peters, 63 F.3d 546, 558 (7th Cir. 1995), the weight of
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the evidence against Johnson shows that the unintentional misstatement did not result in prejudice. 

This Court has held that when a prosecutor makes reference to evidence that the government cannot

or will not prove at trial, it is the government, not the defendant, that suffers prejudice as a result of

the failure of proof.  See United States v. Akin, 562 F.2d 459, 466 (7th Cir. 1977); United States v.

Smith, 253 F.3d 95, 98 (7th Cir. 1958).  Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion when

it did not grant Johnson a mistrial.      

For all of the foregoing reasons, Johnson’s conviction should be affirmed.  

IV. Lamb’s Conduct Violated 18 U.S.C. § 1512(c)(1).

INTRODUCTION

In Case No. 10-2230, Lisa Lamb appeals her conviction and her sentence.   Lamb argues that

the district court improperly instructed the jury because her conduct did not constitute obstruction

of justice in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1512(c)(1).  Lamb argues that the government charged Lamb

under the “wrong statute” because, in her view, 18 U.S.C. § 1512(c)(1) was only intended to apply

to corporate fraud.  Lamb argues that applying the statute to her case violates the Rule of Lenity and

that she could not have acted “corruptly” within the meaning of the statute because she could not

have foreseen any official proceeding.  Lamb’s arguments fail because the plain language of the

statute and its subsequent application in this Court and others show that the statute is not confined

to corporate fraud.  The Rule of Lenity does not apply when a statute is not ambiguous.  The

possibility of an official proceeding should have been abundantly foreseeable to Lamb because at

the time that she was destroying evidence, law enforcement officers were at her door attempting to

execute a search warrant.             
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STANDARD OF REVIEW

Under Rule 30 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, a party who objects to any portion

of the jury instructions or to a failure to give a requested instruction must inform the district court

of the specific objection and the grounds for the objection before the jury retires to deliberate. 

Failure to object in accordance with this rule precludes appellate review, except as permitted under

Rule 52(b).  Rule 52(b) states the plain error standard of review.  When a party fails to inform of the

specific grounds for an objection, the review is for plain error.  United States v. Ye, 588 F.3d 411,

414 (7th Cir. 2009).  In this case, Lamb made a general objection to the sufficiency of the evidence,

but she did not address the specific grounds raised in her appeal.  Tr. IV, 85:10 - 89:10; L. App. A22

- A26.  Therefore, the standard of review in this case is for plain error.          

ANALYSIS

A. Lamb’s conduct violated the plain language of the statute. 

18 U.S.C. § 1512(c)(1) states: “Whoever corruptly—alters, destroys, mutilates, or conceals

a record, document, or other object, or attempts to do so, with the intent to impair the object’s

integrity or availability for use in an official proceeding . . . ” commits a crime.  18 U.S.C. §

1512(c)(1) (2006).  Lamb challenges the inclusion of cocaine base within the statutory language

“other object.”  Lamb argues that the legislative history of the statute shows that it was passed in

response to corporate fraud, however, the language at issue is not ambiguous.  The word “object”

does not raise difficulty in assessing its meaning.  Black’s Law Dictionary defines “object” as “[a]

person or thing to which thought, feeling, or action is directed.”  Black’s Law Dictionary (9th ed.

2009).  Cocaine base is a unquestionably a thing.  In this case, Lamb directed action at a thing– 

cocaine base – by attempting to wash it off of a pyrex dish while police were at the door attempting

to execute a search warrant.  Thus, cocaine base falls easily within the common understanding of the
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term “object.”  When the statute involves an unambiguous term, there is no need to consult the

legislative history to understand its meaning.  See Carcieri v. Salazar, 129 S.Ct. 1058, 1063-1064

(2009) (“We must enforce plain and unambiguous statutory language according to its terms.”). 

Because cocaine base is an “object,” Lamb’s conduct violated the statute.   

Additionally, Lamb relies on the rule of ejusdem generis to argue that the term “object”

should be read to apply only to objects that are similar to records and documents.  The rule of

ejusdem generis, however, “is no more than an aid to construction and comes into play only when

there is some uncertainty as to the meaning of a particular clause in a statute.  United States v.

Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 581 (1981).  The rule of ejusdem generis does not apply when the plain

meaning of statutory language is clear.  Id.  Because the term “object” is not ambiguous, ejusdem

generis does not apply.  

Further, this Court and others have repeatedly affirmed convictions under 18 U.S.C.

1512(c)(1) based on conduct falling well outside the realm of corporate fraud.  In United States v.

Matthews, 505 F.3d 698 (7th Cir. 2007), this Court affirmed a conviction for obstruction of justice

under 18 U.S.C. § 1512(c)(1) based on the defendant’s attempt to conceal a firearm.  In United States

v. Ortiz, 220 Fed. Appx. 13 (2d Cir. 2007), the Second Circuit affirmed a conviction under 18 U.S.C.

§ 1512(c)(1) for concealing a car after a robbery.  In United States v. Thompson, 171 Fed. Appx. 823

(11  Cir. 2206), the Eleventh Circuit affirmed a conviction under 18 U.S.C. 1512(c)(1) where theth

defendant directed an accomplice to remove money, a gun, and crack cocaine from a storage locker. 

In United States v. Abrolaez, 450 F.3d 1283 (11 Cir. 2006), the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the a

conviction under 18 U.S.C. 1512(c)(1) after the defendant destroyed a cell phone that had been used

in drug trafficking.  In United States v. Moyer, 726 F.Supp.2d 498 (M.D.Pa. 2010), the Middle

District of Pennsylvania rejected the defendant’s motion to dismiss a charge of obstruction of justice
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under 18 U.S.C. § 1512(c) where the defendant attempted to hide a pair of shoes that had been worn

in a racially motivated attack.  

These cases show that the application 18 U.S.C. §1512(c)(1) is not limited to cases of

corporate fraud.  Guns, cars, money, cell phones, shoes, and crack cocaine have little in common

with corporate records and documents, but they are all “objects” within the common meaning of that

term.  They are all also “objects” within the plain meaning of 18 U.S.C. §1512(c)(1).  Therefore,

Lamb’s argument that the crack cocaine in this case is not an “object” within the meaning of the

statute fails.  The district court did not commit plain error by instructing the jury on the elements of

the statute in this case.  R. 126-1, p. 8; L. App. A16.

B. The statute is not void for vagueness, and the Rule of Lenity does not 
apply because the statute is not ambiguous.

Lamb argues that the application 18 U.S.C. §1512(c)(1) in her case renders the statute void

for vagueness and violates the Rule of Lenity.  In support of her void-for-vagueness argument, Lamb

cites the recent decision in Skilling v. United States, 130 S.Ct. 2896 (2010), in which the Supreme

Court found the phrase  “intangible right of honest services” in the federal mail fraud statute to cover

bribery and kickback schemes.  Skilling, however, has no application in this case because it interprets

a completely different phrase in a completely different statute.  Even if the phrase “intangible right

of honest services” was found to be vague and in need of clarification, the term “object” is not vague. 

As discussed above, an “object” is a tangible thing, and the Supreme Court’s discussion of the

meaning of an intangible right simply does not apply.  In this case, the statute  unambiguously

applies to “objects.”  Within the name of the doctrine “void for vagueness” lies the limitation on its

use.  Without ambiguity as to what conduct is prohibited, the doctrine does not apply.   

 Lamb argues that the application of 18 U.S.C. §1512(c)(1) in her case was improper because

it offends the Rule of Lenity.  As with the void for vagueness doctrine, the Rule of Lenity carries the
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same requirement of ambiguity before it applies.  See United States v. Thompson, 484 F.3d 877, 881

(7th Cir. 2007).   In the case of § 1512(c)(1) the statute unambiguously prohibits destroying an 

“object.”  As discussed above, an ordinary person would understand that illegal drugs are “objects”

within the common meaning of that term.  Because the statute is unambiguous, the Rule of Lenity

does not apply.

C. Lamb acted “corruptly” because an official proceeding was foreseeable.

Lamb argues that even if 18 U.S.C. §1512(c)(1) applies outside of corporate fraud cases, she

nevertheless could not have acted “corruptly” because an official proceeding was not foreseeable. 

Lamb argues that the district court gave erroneous instructions on the elements of the offense.  Lamb

specifically argues that the district court erred because it did not give a specific instruction on

foreseeability.  

Lamb’s argument fails for at least two reasons.  First, Lamb did not request a foreseeability

instruction, and the district court’s failure to give it was not an error, plain or otherwise.  The district

court instructed the jury on the law regarding the charge of obstruction of justice against Lamb based

on this court’s holding in Matthews, supra.  The instruction on the elements of the offense was taken

directly from Matthews, as were the instructions on the terms “official proceeding” and “corruptly.” 

R. 126-1, p. 8-11; L. App. A16 - A19.   Lamb’s counsel made a general objection to the sufficiency

of the evidence against her, but neither counsel nor Lamb ever requested the specific instruction on

foreseeability that Lamb now argues was essential.  Tr. IV, 85:10 - 89:10; L. App. A22 - A26. 

Because Lamb did not request the foreseebility instruction, the plain error standard applies to the

district court’s failure to give it.  Ye, 588 F.3d at 414.  The district court’s decision to use instructions

that had already been parsed and approved by this Court hardly amounts to plain error.  Likewise,

the district court’s failure to instruct on foreseeability when Lamb did not request the instruction was
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not plain error.   

Lamb’s argument also fails because under plain error review, it is her burden to show

prejudice.  United States v. Perez, 612 F.3d 879, 884 (7  Cir. 2010), citing United States v. Olano,th

507 U.S. 725, 734-35 (1993).  Lamb can not show prejudice because even if a foreseeability

instruction had been given, there was substantial evidence that an official proceeding was

foreseeable.  

The evidence in this is that on April 4, 2008, DEA Special Agent Michael Rehg knocked on

the door of the residence at 5706 Westmoreland in an attempt to execute a search warrant.  Tr. III,

32:15-19.  After Agent Rehg knocked, Lisa Lamb opened the inner door but not the iron bars that

covered the door.  Tr. III, 32:18-22.  Agent Rehg showed Lamb his identification, introduced

himself, and told Lamb that he had a search warrant for the residence and that she would have to

open the door to let him in.  Tr. III, 33:6-10.  Lamb asked to see a copy of the warrant, and Rehg

explained that he would get one.  Tr. III 33:13-17.  Rehg told Lamb that she would have to stay in

front of the open door where he could see her, both for his safety and so that evidence would not be

destroyed.  Tr. III, 33:17-24.  Rehg asked Lamb to keep the inner door open, but Lamb slammed the

door on him, kicked it, and tried to push it shut.  Tr. III, 33:25 - 34:9.  Eventually, Lamb shut the

door, and agents tried to make entry into the house by breaking the windows.  Tr. III, 35:4-15. 

Agents, uniformed police officers, and firemen attempted to get into the residence for approximately

20 to 30 minutes.  Tr. III, 35:21 - 36:10.  Finally, firemen cut the frame off the barred door with a

gas saw, and agents were able to get inside.  Tr. III, 36:11-18.  

While they were trying to get inside of the residence, Agent Rehg and Washington Park

police officers were yelling to Lamb that they were the police and for her to open the door.  Tr. III,

36:19-25.  During that time, Agent Rehg heard the toilet flushing and the faucet on the sink running. 
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Tr. III 37:7-9.  Agent Rehg saw Lamb standing in front of the sink, and she appeared to be washing

dishes.  Tr. III, 37:12-14.  When Rehg entered the house, Lamb was backing away from the sink, the

faucet was running, and the sink was still wet.  Tr. III, 38:7-12.  Lamb told Rehg that she had been

washing dishes.  Tr. III, 39:21.  On the sink, Agent Rehg found a pyrex measuring cup with crack

cocaine residue inside.  Tr. III, 42:12-19, 43:4-20.

The evidence in this case shows that while Lamb was inside the house committing the

offense of conviction, attempting to destroy the crack cocaine in the measuring cup, a DEA Agent,

uniformed police officers, and firemen were outside the house attempting to get inside and execute

a search warrant.  Thus, it should have been readily foreseeable to Lamb that the execution of the

search warrant and the seizure of the evidence that she was trying to destroy would likely lead to an

official proceeding.  Because there was abundant evidence of foreseeability, Lamb can not meet her

burden of showing that she was prejudiced by the lack of a specific jury instruction on foreseeability. 

For all of the foregoing reasons, Lamb’s conduct violated 18 U.S.C. §1512(c)(1).

  

V. The Trial Evidence And Jury Instructions Neither Constructively Amended 
The Charge Nor Fatally Varied The Factual Allegations From The 
Indictment.

INTRODUCTION

Lamb argues that the evidence and instructions in this case either constructively amended the

charge against her or resulted in a fatal variance from the indictment.   There are three parts to

Lamb’s argument.  First, Lamb argues that she was prejudiced by the jury’s exposure to the evidence

against both Lamb and Johnson in the joint trial.  Second, Lamb states that the evidence and jury

instructions mentioning cocaine as well as cocaine base, along with evidence of her relationship with

Johnson constructively amended the indictment.  Third, Lamb cites the difference between cocaine
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base and cocaine in arguing that the indictment was fatally varied. Lamb’s arguments fail because

evidence of her knowledge of Johnson’s cocaine dealing was necessary to show that Lamb acted

“corruptly” in committing her offense of conviction.  The evidence and instructions were clear and

proper, and there was no constructive amendment or fatal variance.    

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews the denial of Lamb’s motion to sever for abuse of discretion.  United

States v. Olsen, 450 F.3d 655, 677 (7  Cir. 2006).  For a constructive amendment claim, if theth

defendant fails to timely raise the claim in the trial court, the review is for plain error.  See United

States v. Presbitero, 569 F.3d 691, 698 (7th Cir. 2009).  Lamb did not raise an objection on the

grounds of constructive amendment of the indictment at the trial level, so review is for plain error

in this case.  Lamb argues that a timely objection was made, but the record shows that Lamb made

a general objection to the sufficiency of the evidence, and she did not address constructive

amendment.  Tr. IV, 85:10 - 89:10; L. App. A22 - A26.  Plain error in a constructive amendment

claim exists “if the amendment constitutes a mistake so serious that the defendant probably would

have been acquitted had there not been a mistake.”  Presbitero, 569 F.3d at 698.  The standard of

review for a fatal variance claim is the same as the sufficiency of the evidence standard of review. 

See United States v. Dean, 574 F.3d 836, 845 (7th Cir. 2009).  Under this standard, the evidence is

viewed in “the light most favorable to the Government,” and a conviction will be reversed “only if

the record contains no evidence from which a reasonable juror could have found the defendant

guilty.”  Id. 

A. The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Lamb’s motion 
to sever.

Lamb’s first argument in support of her constructive amendment claim is that the district

court erred in denying her motion to sever her case from Johnson’s.  On August 19, 2009, Johnson
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and Lamb were charged in the Superseding Indictment.  R. 79.  Initially, both Johnson and Lamb

were charged in Count 1 with Conspiracy to Distribute Cocaine.  R. 79.  On September 18, 2009,

Lamb filed her motion to sever, in which she argued that the evidence against Johnson might be used

against her as well.  R. 99.  At the time that she filed her motion, Lamb was still charged in the

conspiracy count.  R. 79.  

On September 24, the district court entered its order denying Lamb’s motion.  R. 101; L.

App. A9-12.  In the order, the district court noted the presumption in favor of a joint trial for co-

conspirators.  R. 101; L. App. A10.  The district court addressed Lamb’s concern about a “spill-over”

effect of the evidence against Johnson and cited this Court’s precedent holding that a simple

disparity of evidence does not independently establish actual prejudice.  R. 101; L. App. A11; citing 

United States v. Caliendo, 910 F.2d 429, 438 (7  Cir. 1990).  The district court  noted that this Courtth

has found the jury instruction to give separate consideration to each defendant and charge to be

effective enough to counteract any prejudice from a disparity in evidence.  R. 101; L. App. A11.  The

district court invited counsel to request that the jury instruction, or another appropriate instruction,

be given contemporaneously with any evidence that applied solely to Johnson.  R. 101; L. App. A11. 

On October 2, 2009, the government moved to dismiss the conspiracy count as to Lamb.  R.

115.  Lamb did not renew her motion to sever after the conspiracy count was dismissed against her. 

Evidence started in the trial on October 5, 2009.  R. 120.  During the trial Lamb did not request that

the separate consideration instruction be read to the jury during testimony that applied only to

Johnson.  The district court gave the jury the separate consideration instruction after the close of the

evidence.  R. 126, p. 20; G. App. 7.  

The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Lamb’s motion to sever.  At the time

of the motion, Lamb and Johnson were charged as co-conspirators, and Lamb did not renew her

27



motion after the conspiracy charge was dropped against her.  The district court relied on this Court’s

precedent in analyzing the potential for prejudice that might be created by a “spill-over” effect.  The

district court offered to instruct the jury on separate consideration during evidence that applied only

to Johnson, but Lamb did not take the district court up on that offer.  The district court gave the

separate consideration instruction, and the jury is presumed to have followed it.  Therefore, the

district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Lamb’s motion to sever, and she was not

prejudiced.                                     

B. The evidence introduced at trial did not constructively amend the 
indictment, as the basis for conviction was not broadened and no 
plain error was committed.

“[T]he Fifth Amendment requires an indictment of a grand jury to guarantee that the

allegations in the indictment and the proof at trial match.”  United States v. Trennell, 290 F.3d 881,

888 (7th Cir. 2002) (internal quotation marks omitted).  A constructive amendment of an indictment

occurs when “the crime charged in the indictment [is] ‘materially different or substantially altered

at trial, [so that] it is impossible to know whether the grand jury would have indicted for the crime

actually proved.’”  United States v. Ratliff-White, 493 F.3d 812, 820 (7th Cir. 2007) (citations

omitted).  In this case, Lamb was charged with obstruction of justice in violation of 18 U.S.C.

§1512(c)(1).  R.  79.  The Superseding Indictment specifically alleged that Lamb “did corruptly

attempt to conceal and destroy an object, cocaine base, with the intent to impair its availability for

use in an official proceeding.”  R. 79.  In order to prove that Lamb acted “corruptly” when she

attempted to destroy evidence, the government was required to prove that Lamb acted with the

purpose of wrongfully impeding the due administration of justice.  R. 126-1, p. 11; L. App. A19. 

As discussed in Section IV, C, supra, in order for Lamb to have acted corruptly, an official

proceeding had to be foreseeable.  
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The proof at trial against Lamb consisted primarily of the testimony of Agent Rehg, which

is described in Section IV, C, supra.  As Lamb notes, she was also mentioned a handful of other

times during the trial.  L. Br. 36.  That additional evidence tended to show that Lamb was aware of

Johnson’s cocaine dealing activities because she was present when Johnson picked up cocaine, when

cocaine was delivered, and when Johnson sold cocaine.  L. Br.36; L. App. A78-9; A96; A90-91;

A96-97.        

All that is required for this Court to affirm Lamb’s conviction is a finding that no plain error

was committed.  See Presbitero, 569 F.3d at 698.  The district court did not commit plain error in

this case because the charging document and jury instructions show that the government did not

broaden the charges at trial, and the proof presented at trial applied to the elements of the offense

charged.  The government was required to prove that Lamb acted “corruptly” – with the purpose of

wrongfully impeding the due administration of justice –  and an official proceeding had to have been

foreseeable.  The evidence that Lamb was aware of Johnson’s cocaine dealing was offered to help

prove that Lamb acted corruptly and that an official proceeding was foreseeable.  Without that

evidence, Lamb could have argued at trial, as she does on appeal, that her attempt to destroy

evidence was done innocently and that no official proceeding was foreseeable.  

Lamb argues that the only relevant official proceeding in this case was the government’s

prosecution of Johnson for selling powder cocaine.  However, Lamb only needed to foresee the use

of the object she attempted to destroy in an official proceeding.  The language of § 1512(c)(1) does

not require there to be a specific proceeding.  In a prosecution for cocaine dealing, cocaine base, if

discovered by DEA agents in a search of the residence of a drug trafficker, has “a relationship in

time, causation, or logic with” a criminal prosecution of that drug trafficker.  See United States v.

Aguilar, 515 U.S. 593, 599 (1995).  Additionally, this Court has held that “a defendant may be

29



convicted under § 841(a)(1) even if he does not know the type or quantity of the controlled

substance.”  United States v. Martinez, 301 F.3d 860, 865 (7th Cir. 2002).   Thus, it was foreseeable3

that the crack cocaine evidence that Lamb tried to destroy might be evidence in an official

proceeding against Johnson for selling cocaine.

In her argument, Lamb relies in part on United States v. Leichtnam, 948 F.2d 370 (7th Cir.

1991).  In Leichtnam, the defendant was charged with possessing a specific firearm, but the

government presented evidence that the defendant also possessed two other firearms that were not

charged in the indictment.  Lamb’s reliance on Leichtnam in this case is misplaced because the

government’s evidence of Lamb’s knowledge of Johnson’s cocaine dealing was offered specifically

to prove an element of the charged offense.  

Moreover, the government did not constructively amend the indictment to include a

conspiracy charge against Lamb.  As Lamb recognizes in her brief, the evidence presented linking

Lamb to Johnson’s drug trafficking was necessary to establish the nexus required under § 1512(c)(1),

and it did just that.  L. Br. 37.  The evidence placed Lamb in a position to know of Johnson’s

dealings so that an official proceeding was foreseeable when she destroyed the cocaine base.  The

government did not invite the jury to consider a conspiracy charge against Lamb.  It was not a

possible basis of conviction for her.  See Leichtnam, 948 F.2d at 375 (describing constructive

amendment repeatedly as a broadening of the basis for conviction).       

Because the evidence and the instructions at trial matched the allegations in the superseding

 Jury Instruction Nos. 32 and 33, which Lamb cites as “affirmatively instruct[ing] the jury3

to consider offenses not charged by equating powder with crack cocaine,” state that they refer to
charges under 18 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1).  The instructions do not refer to the charge against Lamb, and
were proper under Martinez, 301 F.3d at 865.  Additionally, Lamb did not object to this instruction
at trial, and even if improper this Court “rarely reverse[s] a conviction because of an improper jury
instruction to which no objection was offered.”  United States v. Ye, 588 F.3d 411, 414 (7th Cir.
2009).
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indictment, no constructive amendment occurred, and the district court did not commit plain error.

           B. There was no fatal variance between the charge against Lamb and the 
evidence that was presented.

“A variance between allegation and proof is not fatal unless the defendant has been thereby

deprived of an adequate opportunity to prepare a defense or has been exposed to a risk of being

prosecuted twice for the same offense.” United States v. Kuna, 760 F.2d 813, 819 (7th Cir.1985). 

“When reviewing [a fatal variance claim, this Court] view[s] the evidence presented at trial and

draw[s] all reasonable inferences from that evidence in the light most favorable to the Government.

[The Court] shall overturn a conviction only if the record contains no evidence from which a

reasonable juror could have found the defendant guilty.”  United States v. Dean, 574 F.3d 836, 842

(7th Cir. 2009).  

The evidence at trial against Lamb consisted primarily of the testimony of Agent Rehg, which

is described in Section IV, C, supra.  As discussed in Section V, B, supra, there was also some

evidence from other witnesses against Lamb.  L. Br. 36.  That additional evidence tended to show

that Lamb was aware of Johnson’s cocaine dealing activities because she was present when Johnson

picked up cocaine, when cocaine was delivered, and when Johnson sold cocaine.  L. Br.36; L. App.

A78-9; A96; A90-91; A96-97. 

The evidence from Agent Rehg showed that Lamb refused to allow him to enter the residence

to at 5706 Westmoreland after he had identified himself and told Lamb that he had a search warrant. 

The evidence showed that during the 20 to 30 minutes that it took to gain entry into the house, Agent

Rehg heard the toilet flushing and the faucet running on the sink. The evidence showed that Agent

Rehg saw Lamb standing near the sink, and she appeared to be washing dishes.  The evidence

showed that when Agent Rehg finally made it inside, Lamb was backing away from the sink, which
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was wet and where the faucet was still running.  The evidence showed that Lamb told Rehg that she

had been washing dishes.  When this evidence is coupled with the evidence that Lamb knew that

Johnson was involved in selling cocaine, it suggests that while the police were outside trying to get

through the door and execute the search warrant, Lamb was inside attempting to destroy evidence. 

A reasonable jury, when viewing this evidence favorably to the government, could find that Lamb

acted corruptly and that an official proceeding was foreseeable.  Therefore any variance between the

allegations and proof at trial is not prejudicial.

Lamb’s argument the evidence powder cocaine deprived her of an adequate opportunity to

prepare a defense simply falls flat.  First, “[c]ocaine base is merely an isomer of cocaine.”  United

States v. Pierce, 893 F.2d 669, 676 (5th Cir. 1990).  It is “usually prepared by processing cocaine

hydrochloride and sodium bicarbonate.”  United States v. Abdul, 122 F.3d 477, 479 (7th Cir. 1997). 

Thus Lamb could reasonably foresee the use of any form of cocaine in an official proceeding related

to the illegal drug activity at Westmoreland.  Second, after the indictment was filed, Lamb could

have foreseen the need of the government to establish that she knew of Johnson’s trafficking in

cocaine in order to prove the elements of obstruction of justice.  That evidence is exactly what the

government presented at trial, and what Lamb claims fatally varied the charges in the indictment. 

Any variance was harmless and did not affect Lamb’s protected rights.  See United States v. Cooper,

39 F.3d 167, 173 (7th Cir. 1994) (considering charges of conspiracy to distribute cocaine where

proof at trial showed distribution of crack cocaine); United States v. Pierce, 893 F.2d 669, 676 (5th

Cir. 1990) (considering charges of possession and conspiring to distribute cocaine where proof at

trial showed cocaine base).  For all of the reasons above, there was no constructive amendment or

no fatal variance.  
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VI. The Evidence Was Sufficient To Convict Lamb Of Obstruction Of Justice.

INTRODUCTION

Lamb argues that the evidence at trial does not support the jury’s decision to convict her of

obstruction of justice for three reasons.  First, Lamb argues that the evidence failed to show that she

destroyed or concealed an object.  Second, lamb argues that there was insufficient evidence of her

corrupt intent.  Third, Lamb asserts that the evidence did not prove that she could foresee an  official

proceeding.  These arguments fail because the evidence presented at trial was sufficient to convince

a rational jury of Lamb’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Review of a sufficiency-of-the-evidence challenge to a conviction begins with a view of the

evidence “in the light most favorable to the verdict.”  United States v. Williams, 553 F.3d 1073, 1080

(7th Cir. 2009).  This Court “will reverse only if no rational trier of fact could have found [the

defendant] guilty of the charges beyond a reasonable doubt.”  United States v. DeSilva, 505 F.3d 711,

715 (7th Cir. 2007). “[It] will neither reweigh the evidence nor second-guess the jury's credibility

determinations.  It is irrelevant whether [the Court] would have voted to convict on the evidence

presented-[it has] no authority to usurp the jury's function as finder of fact.”  Tavarez, 626 F.3d at

906 (citations omitted).  Circumstantial evidence may support a conviction just as direct evidence

would.  See Williams, 533 F.3d at 1086 (citing United States v. Galati, 230 F.3d 254, 258 (7th Cir.

2000)).

ANALYSIS

A. The circumstantial evidence showed that Lamb attempted to 
destroy the crack cocaine in the pyrex dish.

“[I]t is well established that a jury's verdict may rest solely upon circumstantial evidence.” 

United States v. Galati, 230 F.3d 254, 258 (7th Cir. 2000).  The evidence is discussed in Section V,
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B, supra.  The evidence showed that Lamb refused to allow Agent Rehg to enter the residence to at

5706 Westmoreland after he had identified himself and told Lamb that he had a search warrant.  The

evidence showed that during the 20 to 30 minutes that it took to gain entry into the house, Agent

Rehg heard the toilet flushing and the faucet running on the sink. The evidence showed that Agent

Rehg saw Lamb standing near the sink, and she appeared to be washing dishes.  The evidence

showed that when Agent Rehg finally made it inside, Lamb was backing away from the sink, which

was wet and where the faucet was still running.  The evidence showed that Lamb told Rehg that she

had been washing dishes.  When this evidence is coupled with the evidence that Lamb knew that

Johnson was involved in selling cocaine, it suggests that while the police were outside trying to get

through the door and execute the search warrant, Lamb was inside attempting to destroy evidence. 

When viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict, the evidence was sufficient to show that

Lamb attempted to destroy the crack cocaine in the pyrex dish.   

B. The evidence shows that Lamb acted corruptly.

Acting “corruptly” means acting “with the purpose of wrongfully impeding the due

administration of justice.”  United States v. Ashqar, 582 F.3d 819, 823 (7th Cir. 2009). The evidence

at trial was sufficient to prove Lamb’s corrupt state of mind.  As discussed in Sections IV, C and V,

B, supra, the evidence showed that Lamb was aware of Johnson’s cocaine dealing because she had

gone with him to pick up cocaine, she had been present when cocaine was delivered, and she had

been present when Johnson had sold cocaine.  When Agent Rehg identified himself and attempted

to execute the search warrant, Lamb slammed the door on him and refused to let him in, even after

uniformed police officers and firemen arrived and had to saw the iron door off its frame.  While the

officers were trying to get inside, Agent Rehg saw Lamb standing in front of the sink, and she

apepared to be washing dishes.  When Rehg finally got inside lamb stated that she had been washing
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dishes.       

A rational trier of fact could find the evidence of Lamb’s corrupt motive sufficient to convict

Lamb beyond a reasonable doubt.  Lamb contends that because the area in which the Westmoreland

address is located, East St. Louis, is dangerous, she could not presume that plain-clothes agents

presenting valid badges were in fact DEA agents.   Nevertheless, there was significant evidence that4

Lamb knew that Johnson sold cocaine.  When Agent Rehg came to the door, she slammed it on him

and refused to open it after uniformed officers arrived.  Lamb said that while the officers tried for

20 to 30 minutes to get inside, she was doing dishes.  There was no evidence presented at trial that

Lamb was doing dishes because she wanted the house to look presentable when the police came to

search.  The evidence of Lamb’s knowledge of Johnson’s drug dealing coupled with the evidence

of her actions when confronted by Agent Rehg was sufficient to prove Lamb’s corrupt intent.      

C. An Official Proceeding was foreseeable.  

A conviction under § 1512(c)(1) requires the jury to find that a defendant “believe[s] that his

acts will be likely to affect a pending or foreseeable proceeding.”  Matthews, 505 F.3d at 708.

As discussed in Sections IV, C and V, B, supra, the significant evidence of foreseeability was

presented at trial.  The evidence showed that Lamb knew that Johnson was selling cocaine.  The

evidence showed that as Lamb was attempting to destroy evidence, law enforcement officers were

at the door, attempting to execute a search warrant and seize evidence.  When viewed in the light

most favorable to the verdict, the evidence shows that the commencement of an official proceeding

should have been readily foreseeable to Lamb.  For all of these reasons, there was sufficient evidence

 Lamb also refers to a number of cases in this Circuit involving “crooked police officers”4

in order to negate the foreseeability of an official proceeding.  However, all of the cases cited
originated in the Northern District of Illinois, so the connection between Lamb’s intent and these
cases is rather attenuated.
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to convict Lamb.    

IV. The District Court Properly Applied The § 2X3.1 Cross-Reference.

INTRODUCTION

Lamb argues that the district court should have found the evidence insufficient to conclude

that the cross reference applied under § 2X3.1 of the United States Sentencing Guidelines Manual

(2007).  This argument does not contain adequate support in the appellant’s brief, and therefore

Lamb has waived appellate review of this claim.  If this Court decides that Lamb’s argument meets

the requirements under Rule 28 of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure, this claim must fail

because the district court did not commit clear error based on the evidence presented at sentencing. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“[This Court] review[s] de novo the district court's application of the [Sentencing] guidelines,

and its findings of fact for clear error.”  United States v. Quintero, 618 F.3d 746, 755 (7th Cir. 2010). 

This claim concerns the sufficiency of evidence to support the district court’s finding that Lamb

obstructed an official proceeding related to Johnson’s cocaine distribution, so a clear error standard

applies.  Clear error is a “highly deferential standard of review[,] and [this Court] refuse[s] to

second-guess the sentencing judge.”  United States v. Longstreet, 567 F.3d 911, 924 (7th Cir. 2009).

ANALYSIS

A. Lamb has waived appellate review of the application of § 2X3.1 
because her brief fails to meet the requirements of Fed. R. App. P 
28(a)(9)(A).

The Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure require an appellant to include in its brief an

argument section, “which must contain . . . appellant's contentions and the reasons for them, with
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citations to the authorities and parts of the record on which the appellant relies.”  Fed. R. App. P.

28(a)(9)(A).  This Court has  interpreted this portion of the Rules to require an appellant to support

its claim with “appropriate judicial authority and reasoned discussion.”  Doherty v. City of Chicago,

75 F.3d 318, 324 (7th Cir. 1996); see also United States v. Useni, 516 F.3d 634, 658 (7th Cir. 2008);

United States v. Amerson, 185 F.3d 676, 689 (7th Cir. 1999).  Failure to follow this Rule will result

in a waiver of the claim, and does not require appellate review.  See Useni, 516 F.3d at 658.  

In her brief, Lamb has claimed that the district court should not have applied the § 2X3.1

cross-reference to Lamb’s sentence.  In support of this claim, Lamb merely states in a few sentences

that the judge should have found that the underlying offense was “something else, such as Lamb’s

mere possession of cocaine base.”  L. Br. 47.  No judicial authority is cited outside of the standard

of review, and in her argument, Lamb broadly refers back to entire sections of the brief, which make

different arguments.  Much like the appellants in Amerson and Useni, Lamb “failed to establish the

basis for [her] allegation” that there was insufficient evidence.  Amerson, 185 F.3d at 689.  The court

in Useni considered one of the appellant’s arguments waived where he cited no judicial authority

beyond that necessary to establish the standard of review, and listed “three unsupported factual

assertions.”  Useni, 516 F.3d at 658.  Since “[i]t is not the role of this court to research and construct

the legal arguments open to parties, especially when they are represented by counsel,” Doherty, 75

F.3d at 324, Lamb has waived appellate review of this claim.

B. Even if Lamb has not waived appellate review, the district court 
properly used Johnson’s cocaine conspiracy as the underlying offense 
when applying § 2X3.1 to her sentence. 

 In calculating Lamb’s guidelines, the district court properly applied the § 2X3.1 accessory-

after-the-fact cross-reference to Lamb’s sentence.  Lamb does not contest the application of the

cross-reference.  Instead, Lamb argues that the district court improperly used Johnson’s cocaine
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distribution conspiracy as the underlying offense because the evidence does not support such use. 

However, Application Note 1 to § 2X3.1 provides that “underlying offense means the offense as to

which the defendant is convicted of being an accessory.”  U.S.S.G. § 2X3.1, comment (n.1) (2007). 

That Application Note also references Application Note 10 to §1B1.3 (relevant conduct), which

states that in the case of accessory-after-the-fact, “the conduct for which the defendant is accountable

includes all conduct relevant to determining the offense level for the underlying offense that was

known, or reasonably should have been known, by the defendant.”  U.S.S.G. §1B1.3, comment

(n.10).  Lamb was convicted of  obstruction of justice in relation to the cocaine trafficking activities

of Johnson.  Therefore the underlying offense covers obstruction of justice in relation to trafficking

the amount of cocaine “that was known, or reasonably should have been known” to Lamb.  The

evidence in this case shows that Johnson entered into a multi-year-long cocaine conspiracy with

Reynaldo Colon-Laboy to transport hundreds of kilograms of cocaine from the Chicago area to the

East St. Louis area.  Tr. II. 15:1 - 58:21.  At trial, the evidence showed that rode Johnson to pick up

cocaine, she was present when cocaine was delivered, and she was present when Johnson sold

cocaine.  Based on the evidence in this case, the district court did not commit clear error in finding

the evidence sufficient to conclude that Lamb knew or reasonably should have known that Johnson

sold at least 11 kilograms of cocaine during the course of the conspiracy.

For all of the foregoing reasons, Lamb’s conviction and sentence should be affirmed.  
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 CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the United States prays that this Court affirm Johnson’s

conviction and Lamb’s conviction and sentence.

Respectfully submitted,

STEPHEN R. WIGGINTON
United States Attorney

s/ Donald S. Boyce

DONALD S. BOYCE
Assistant United States Attorney
Nine Executive Drive
Fairview Heights, IL  62208
(618) 628-3700
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